RECEIVED
Oct 27 2025
SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Horry County

Honorable Benjamin H. Culbertson, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

CALVIN D. FORD,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2024-001870

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JESSICA M. SAXON
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

I.

Did the circuit court err in allowing the lawyer for a witness whom Appellant wanted to call during the hearing on his request for immunity pursuant to the Protection of Persons and Property Act to invoke the witness's privilege against self-incrimination pursuant to the Fifth Amendment where (1) the privilege is personal and must be invoked by the person to whom the privilege belongs, (2) there was no evidence that the witness would have invoked the privilege had he been asked, and (3) the evidence in the record showed the witness could not have invoked the privilege as the testimony sought was not self-incriminating?

II.

In the alternative, if this Court determines that the witness's statement was self-incriminating, did the circuit court err by refusing to permit defense counsel to call his investigator to testify to the contents of the statement pursuant to Rule 804(b)(3), SCRE, where the witness was unavailable due to the invocation by counsel of the witness's privilege against self-incrimination, the witness's statement was corroborated by other testimony, and the cumulative nature of the witness's statement enhanced its probative value to render its exclusion not harmless beyond a reasonable doubt?

III.

Did the circuit court err in denying immunity from prosecution where the evidence demonstrated Appellant satisfied the elements of common law self-defense and the Act by a preponderance of the evidence?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On June 22, 2017, an Horry County grand jury indicted Appellant for the murder of Jamal Burgess, the murder of Damien Alston, possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime, and unlawful possession of a weapon by a person convicted of a violent crime. R. 327-332. The charges arose from a shooting that occurred at a birthday party gathering for Rasheed McKnight and Damien Alston, Appellant's brother and cousin, respectively. R. 95, l. 13 – 96, l. 15. Appellant's counsel, Jonny McCoy, filed a motion to dismiss pursuant to section 16-11-450 of the South Carolina Code of Laws, the Protection of Persons and Property Act (the Act). R. 1-23. On March 5, 2019, the Honorable Benjamin Culbertson presided over a hearing on the motion. R. 24. McCoy represented Appellant, and Mary Ellen Walter and Joshua Holford represented the state. R. 24. At the conclusion of the hearing, Judge Culbertson denied Appellant's request for immunity. R. 222, ll. 7-20; R. 224-226.

On November 4-8, 2019, the State called Appellant to trial before the Honorable Paul M. Burch and a jury. R. 232. Additionally, the State called Aliga Campbell, who had been charged with the same offenses under an accomplice liability theory, to trial. R. 233-235. Holford and Walter continued to represent the state, McCoy continued to represent Appellant, and Eric Fox represented Campbell. R. 232.

The jury acquitted Campbell of all charges. R. 325, ll. 2-8. The jury acquitted Appellant of the murder of Alston. R. 325, ll. 9-11. However, the jury convicted Appellant of the murder of Burgess and the two weapons charges. R. 325, ll. 12-24. Judge Burch sentenced Appellant to life imprisonment without the possibility of parole for murder and to five years' imprisonment for each of the weapons convictions. R. 326, ll. 17-23; R. 333-335.

On November 13, 2019, Appellant timely filed a notice of appeal. Former Appellate Defender Susan Barber Hackett filed a seven-issue brief with this Court on June 9, 2021. The state filed its final brief on June 14, 2021. Oral argument was held in the case on December 7, 2022. This Court issued a decision on April 5, 2023, holding that the circuit court erred in determining that the Act did not apply to the weapons charges, and the order denying immunity was insufficient for appellate review. This Court remanded the case back to the circuit court “to make specific findings of fact that support whether Ford is, or is not, entitled to immunity for murder, possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime, and unlawful possession of a weapon by a person convicted of a violent crime.” State v. Ford, 439 S.C. 261, 886 S.E.2d 710 (Ct. App. 2023).¹ Because this Court remanded the matter back to the circuit court for a new order on Appellant’s immunity under the Act, this Court did not address the other evidentiary issues regarding the immunity hearing that Appellant raised. Id. at 270, 886 S.E.2d at 715.

Undersigned counsel petitioned this Court for rehearing² on April 21, 2023, requesting this Court rule on the other evidentiary issues raised regarding the immunity hearing prior to remanding for a new order. This Court denied the petition for rehearing on May 18, 2023. A petition for writ of certiorari was filed in our Supreme Court on June 19, 2023. The state filed a return to the petition on July 18, 2023. Our Supreme Court denied certiorari on March 5, 2024. The remittitur was issued on March 6, 2024. On October 24, 2024, the Honorable Benjamin H.

¹ This Court also ruled that the state was permitted to enter witness Gore’s prior consistent statement under Rule 801(d)(1)B, SCRE and that Appellant’s sentence on the possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime charge was improper and must be vacated because he was also sentenced to life without the possibility of parole on the murder charge. State v. Ford, 439 S.C. 261, 886 S.E.2d 710 (Ct. App. 2023)

² The petition for rehearing also requested this Court reconsider its ruling on the admissibility of witness Gore’s prior consistent statement.

Culbertson issued a new order denying Appellant immunity under the Act. R. 227-231. Appellant timely filed a notice of appeal of the new order on November 1, 2024. This brief follows.

ARGUMENT

I.

The circuit court erred in allowing the lawyer for a witness whom Appellant wanted to call during the hearing on his request for immunity pursuant to the Protection of Persons and Property Act to invoke the witness's privilege against self-incrimination pursuant to the Fifth Amendment where (1) the privilege is personal and must be invoked by the person to whom the privilege belongs, (2) there was no evidence that the witness would have invoked the privilege had he been asked, and (3) the evidence in the record showed the witness could not have invoked the privilege as the testimony sought was not self-incriminating.

Standard of review

“In criminal cases, [the appellate] Court only reviews errors of law.” State v. Lawrence, 439 S.C. 611, 616, 889 S.E.2d 557, 560 (2023) citing State v. Gamble, 405 S.C. 409, 415, 747 S.E.2d 784, 787 (2013). “[The appellate] Court reviews question of law de novo.” Id. citing State v. Adams, 409 S.C. 641, 647, 763 S.E.2d 341, 344 (2014).

Relevant facts

During the hearing on Appellant's request for immunity pursuant to the Act, defense counsel called Aliga Campbell as a witness. R. 135, ll. 24-25. Attached to Appellant's motion for immunity was a sworn, notarized statement made by Campbell on August 10, 2016, eighteen days after the incident. R. 22-23. Campbell described how he and Jamal Burgess, the deceased, had a heated encounter prior to Appellant's arrival at his family members' birthday party where the fatal shooting later occurred. R. 22-23. Campbell stated that when he arrived at the party

with Rasheed McKnight,³ Burgess walked up to them and tried to grab Campbell's "grill"⁴ from behind his ear – this caused Campbell to flinch back and his "grill" fell to the ground. Burgess picked up the "grill" and told Campbell to walk with him. Burgess was aggressively questioning Campbell, asking if Campbell "f**k with" him because Campbell was close to Appellant. R.22-23. Burgess admitted to Campbell that he knocked out Appellant's teeth on a prior occasion. R. 22-23. Burgess requested Campbell called Appellant about his arrival at the party, but Appellant did not answer. R. 22-23 Minutes later, Appellant arrived, and Campbell told Appellant that Burgess wanted to talk to him. R. 22-23. Appellant, who did not trust Burgess, did not go talk to him. Instead, when Appellant did not walk to Burgess, Burgess approached him. R. 22-23.

Campbell observed the conversation between Appellant and Burgess. R. 22-23. Damien Alston stepped between the two men because it looked "like Burgess was trying to fight [Appellant]." R 22-23. Campbell stated that as Burgess pushed Damien Alston to the side he was "whipping his gun out." R. 22-23. Alston's gun fell to the ground when Burgess pushed him. As Burgess "whipped out his gun, turned and fired," Appellant picked up Alston's gun and "fired back at Burgess in self-defense." R. 22-23. Campbell stated Burgess was "waving the gun all around and shooting at everyone." He described Burgess as highly intoxicated that day stating "Burgess was not on the same planet with the rest of us" at the time of the incident. R.

³ McKnight also provided a sworn, notarized affidavit detailing the events of the shooting that was attached to the motion for immunity. He explained how Burgess was the aggressor and persistently pursued Appellant prior to the shooting. He also stated that Burgess was armed and people in the crowd removed his weapon and bullets from Burgess after the incident but prior to police arriving. His statement mirrors the statements of Campbell, Everette, and Appellant. R. 12-13.

⁴ Grills, also called "grillz" or "fronts," are decorative covers often made of gold, silver, or jewel-encrusted precious metals that snap over one or more of a person's teeth. They generally are removable. see <https://www.mouthhealthy.org/all-topics-a-z/grills>

22-23. Campbell was clear, “Burgess fired first. It was self-defense.” R. 22-23. Campbell believed Burgess was going to kill Appellant. R. 22-23.

Finally, Campbell explained that the day before the shooting Burgess rode by his house where he and Appellant were outside. R. 22-23. Burgess saw the two men and pulled up his shirt to show them his gun in his waistband. R. 22-23. Campbell “took this as a threat and a warning against [Appellant] and anyone with [Appellant].” R. 22-23.

While the parties were waiting for Campbell to arrive in the courtroom from lock-up, Campbell’s attorney Eric Fox advised the presiding judge that although Campbell was not a defendant for purposes of the hearing on Appellant’s immunity request, Campbell was a co-defendant in the case. R. 136, ll. 7-8. Counsel Fox “advised and would advise Mr. Campbell again to invoke his rights under the Fifth Amendment not to give any testimony at all” as Campbell was “still indicted in a double homicide that [was] still pending.” R. 136, ll. 10-14. The judge questioned, “[w]ell I don’t know that I can – I mean this isn’t his trial. I can’t compel him to testify. If his attorney objects to you calling him as a witness.” R. 136, ll. 16-18. Defense counsel expressed that he did not think Counsel Fox objected to Campbell being called and that it was a “procedural matter.” R. 136, ll. 19-20. Counsel Fox then informed the presiding judge that he objected to Campbell testifying in any way. R. 136, ll. 21-24.

Defense counsel explained that Campbell provided “a sworn statement and a written affidavit,” two weeks after the shooting and over a year prior to his arrest. R. 137, ll. 1-13. Further, defense counsel indicated that he wanted to call Campbell as a witness “for record sake” even if he wished “to plead the Fifth Amendment.” R. 137, ll. 14-15. The judge framed the question as whether defense counsel could call Campbell “as a witness over his attorney’s objection.” R. 138, ll. 1-3. Defense counsel explained that it was necessary for Campbell to be

called to the stand and assert his privilege if that is what he chose to do. R. 138, ll. 4-10. The judge questioned whether he would permit “Campbell take the stand to assert his Fifth Amendment right when his attorney says, no I’m invoking it now, he doesn’t take the stand.” R. 138, ll. 15-17. The judge noted defense counsel sought to call Campbell as a witness during “a motion hearing,” not “a criminal trial.” R. 138, ll. 17-18. The solicitor opined, “I actually don’t think it’s proper to call someone just to invoke their Fifth Amendment.” R. 138, ll. 20-21. In light of Counsel Fox’s invocation of the privilege for Campbell, the judge would not permit defense counsel to call Campbell as a witness. R. 137, ll. 17-21; 139, ll. 4-6; 143, ll. 11-20.

Discussion

The circuit court improperly allowed Counsel Fox to invoke Campbell’s Fifth Amendment right without Campbell taking the stand. Not only was it error for the court to allow Counsel Fox to invoke a right that belonged solely to his client, but it was error for the circuit court to allow a blanket invocation of that right. Appellant was prejudiced, as the information Appellant sought to obtain from Campbell was not incriminating to Campbell and supported Appellant’s immunity claim.

No person “shall be compelled in any criminal case to be a witness against himself.” U.S. Const. amend V.⁵ “The essence of this basic constitutional principle is the requirement that the State which proposes to convict and punish an individual produce the evidence against him by the independent labor of its officers, not by the simple, cruel expedient of forcing it from his own lips.” Estelle v. Smith, 451 U.S. 454, 462 (1981); see also Kastigar v. United States, 406

⁵ The South Carolina Constitution also provides for protection against compelled self-incrimination. S.C. Const. art. I, § 12. Our Supreme Court has concluded that “the South Carolina Constitution, in this instance, provides the same protections as the United States Constitution.” State v. Lawrence, 439 S.C. 611, 889 S.E.2d 557 (2023).

U.S. 441, 444 (1972) (explaining the privilege “reflects a complex of our fundamental values and aspirations, and marks an important advance in the development of our liberty”).

Personal right

“The importance of preserving inviolate the privilege against compulsory self-incrimination has often been stated” by the Supreme Court of the United States. Couch v. United States, 409 U.S. 322, 327 (1973). “By its very nature, the privilege is an intimate and personal one.” Id. The Supreme Court held that it is an “elemental and established proposition that the privilege against compulsory self-incrimination is, by hypothesis, *a personal one that can only be invoked by the individual whose testimony is being compelled.*” Moran v. Burbine, 475 U.S. 412, 433 n.4 (1986) (rejecting the notion that an attorney can invoke an individual’s privilege against self-incrimination) (emphasis added).

“[T]he privilege against self-incrimination is personal and may not be invoked by, or on behalf of, a third person.” State v. Hughes, 328 S.C. 146, 150, 493 S.E.2d 821, 822 (1997). Our Supreme Court has explained that “[a] judge may not invoke a witness’s Fifth Amendment privilege,” State v. McGuire, 272 S.C. 547, 550, 253 S.E.2d 103, 104-105 (1979), nor may a trial judge permit a witness to claim his Fifth Amendment privilege *before taking the stand*. State v. Perry, 279 S.C. 539, 540, 309 S.E.2d 9, 10 (1983) (emphasis added). More recently, our Supreme Court “[r]eiterating that *a witness himself must assert the privilege*” again stated “it is well settled that a witness who is not also a defendant can invoke that privilege *only after the incriminating question has been put.*” State v. Lawrence, 439 S.C. 611, 619, 889 S.E.2d 557, 562 (2023) citing State v. McGuire 272 S.C. at 550-551, 253 S.E.2d at 105 (emphasis added).

“The privilege is not ordinarily dependent upon the nature of the proceeding in which the testimony is sought or is to be used. It applies alike to civil and criminal proceedings, wherever

the answer might tend to subject to criminal responsibility him who gives it.” State v. Hook, 348 S.C. 401, 415, 559 S.E.2d 856, 863 (Ct. App. 2001), aff’d as modified, 356 S.C. 421, 590 S.E.2d 25 (2003) citing McCarthy v. Arndstein, 266 U.S. 34, 40 (1924). A prohibition exists on calling a witness *before a jury* solely for the sake of invoking his or her Fifth Amendment privilege. See Hughes, 328 S.C. at 150, 152, 493 S.E.2d at 823 (1997) (“It is desirable the jury not know that a witness has invoked the privilege against self-incrimination since neither party is entitled to draw any inference from such invocation...[Neither party] should be allowed to call witnesses who either side knows will invoke the Fifth Amendment in front of the jury and then be subject to inferences in a form not subject to cross-examination.”).

Here, the presiding judge erred by allowing Counsel Fox to invoke the privilege against self-incrimination on Campbell’s behalf. The privilege was personal to Campbell, and it could be invoked only by Campbell after he had taken the stand and been subjected to questioning. Additionally, the language used by Counsel Fox was illuminating and important for the analysis of this issue on appeal. Counsel Fox informed the judge that he “advised and would advise Mr. Campbell again to invoke his rights under the Fifth Amendment not to give any testimony at all.” Hrg. 113, ll. 10-13. Simply, Counsel Fox related only what he had advised Campbell to do. He never informed the judge that Campbell wanted to invoke the privilege. Thus, even if the law were to permit Counsel Fox to invoke the privilege on Campbell’s behalf based on some agency theory, there was no evidence in the record that Campbell, the person to whom the right belonged, actually wanted to invoke his right against self-incrimination.

Not self-incriminating

The record revealed that the testimony defense counsel sought to elicit from Campbell would not have been self-incriminating. Counsel Fox never indicated – or even suggested – that

Campbell would testify differently from the statement he provided to Appellant's private investigator just weeks after the shooting. Campbell did not admit to any illegal conduct in the statement he provided nor would his answers to questions about the statement furnish a link in the chain of evidence needed to prosecute him.

The privilege against self-incrimination is "accorded liberal construction in favor of the right it was intended to secure," and may be claimed when a witness "has reasonable cause to apprehend danger from a direct answer." Hoffman v. United States, 341 U.S. 479, 486 (1951). "The settled law provides that the privilege extends not only to answers that would themselves support a criminal conviction, but also to answers furnishing a link in the chain of evidence needed to prosecute an individual." Grosshuesch v. Cramer, 377 S.C. 12, 659 S.E.2d 112 (2008) (citing Hoffman, 341 U.S. at 486); see also Maness v. Mayers, 419 U.S. 449, 461 (1975); United States v. Pardo, 636 F.2d 535, 544 (D.C. Cir. 1980) (explaining that "a witness does not lose his Fifth Amendment right to refuse to testify concerning other matters or transactions not included in his conviction or plea arrangement").

"The privilege against self-incrimination, one of our most cherished fundamental rights, is jealously guarded by the courts." North River Ins. Co., Inc. v. Stefanou, 831 F.2d 484, 486 (4th Cir. 1987). Examining the validity of the assertion of the privilege, the Sixth Circuit held a valid assertion "exists where a witness has reasonable cause to apprehend a real danger of incrimination." In re Morganroth, 718 F.2d 161, 167 (6th Cir. 1983). "While the privilege is to be accorded liberal application, the court *may* order a witness to answer if it *clearly* appears that he is mistaken as to the justification for the privilege in advancing his claim as a subterfuge." Id. (emphasis added).

For a court to “overrule the claim of privilege, it must be [p]erfectly clear from a careful consideration of all the circumstances, that the witness is mistaken in the apprehension of self-incrimination and the answers demanded [c]annot possibly have such tendency.” Commonwealth v. Carrera, 227 A.2d 627, 629 (Pa. 1967). “[I]f the witness, upon interposing his claim, were required to prove the hazard [of self-incrimination] in the sense in which a claim is usually required to be established in court, he would be compelled to surrender the very protection which the privilege is designed to guarantee.” Hoffman, 341 U.S. at 486.

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