**RECEIVED**

**Oct 27 2025**

**SC Court of Appeals**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM HORRY COUNTY  
Honorable Benjamin H. Culbertson, Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2024-001870

THE STATE, .....RESPONDENT

v.

CALVIN D. FORD, .....APPELLANT.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA  
Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN  
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

TOMMY EVANS, JR.  
Assistant Attorney General  
S.C. Bar No. 65282

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211-1549  
(803) 734-6305

JIMMY A. RICHARDSON, II  
Solicitor, Fifteenth Judicial Circuit

P.O. Drawer 1276

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

## ARGUMENTS

- I. The court did not err when it limited Appellant from calling his co-defendant as a witness at his immunity hearing after the co-defendant’s counsel informed the court that he advised the co-defendant to invoke his Fifth Amendment rights.**

### Relevant Facts

Appellant called his co-defendant, Aliga Campbell, to testify at Appellant’s pre-trial immunity hearing held pursuant to the Protection of Persons and Property Act, S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-410 *et. seq.* (R. p. 135, lines 22-25). Campbell’s attorney at that time informed the court that he had advised Campbell, and would continue to advise Campbell, “to invoke his rights under the Fifth Amendment not to give any testimony at all.” (R. p. 136, lines 7-13). Campbell was indicted in this double homicide as a co-defendant and was tried jointly with Appellant. Appellant’s counsel posited it would be “fine for record sake” if Campbell took the stand solely to invoke the Fifth Amendment. (R. p. 137, lines 13-15; p. 138, lines 4-10). The circuit court disagreed and found that he could not compel Campbell to testify at Appellant’s immunity proceeding because he had “Campbell’s rights to protect as well.” (R. p. 136, lines 16-24; R. p. 139, lines 4-9; *see* p. 138, lines 15-18; p. 143, lines 11-12).

In part, the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution provides that “No person . . . shall be compelled in any criminal case to be a witness against himself.” U.S. Const. amend. V; S.C. Const. Art. I, § 12. The circuit court adequately recognized co-defendant Campbell’s right in this instance by not compelling him to testify, even just to invoke the Fifth Amendment.

### Standard of Review

In criminal cases, this Court reviews errors of law only. To constitute an abuse of discretion, the conclusions of the trial court must lack evidentiary support or be controlled by an error of law. *State v. Nelson*, 380 S.C. 226, 228-29, 669 S.E.2d 595, 596 (Ct. App. 2008). The

admission or exclusion of evidence falls within the sound discretion of the trial court and will not be disturbed on appeal absent an abuse of that discretion. *State v. McEachern*, 399 S.C. 125, 136-37, 731 S.E.2d 604, 609-10 (Ct. App. 2012). Under this standard, the appellate court is bound by the trial court's findings unless they are clearly erroneous. *Nelson*, 380 S.C. at 229, 669 S.E.2d at 596. It is desirable that the jury not to know that a witness has invoked the privilege against self-incrimination, since neither party is entitled to draw any inference from such an invocation. *State v. Hughes*, 328 S.C. 146, 150, 493 S.E.2d 821, 823 (1997). Most courts addressing this issue hold that it is improper for the prosecution to put an accomplice on the stand for the purpose of wringing from him a refusal to testify on the ground of privilege. *Id.* at 151, 493 S.E.2d at 823. Neither party may call a witness solely for the sake of having that witness invoke the Fifth Amendment privilege against self-incrimination in front of the jury. *Id.* at 153, 493 S.E.2d at 824.

### Discussion

*State v. Hughes* modified the prior holding in *State v. Perry*, 279 S.C. 539, 309 S.E.2d 9 (1983), to the extent *Perry* “may be read to **require** the calling of a witness **solely** for the sake of invoking his or her Fifth Amendment privilege.” *Hughes*, 328 S.C. at 154, 493 S.E.2d at 825 (emphasis modified from original). The *Hughes* court reasoned:

[M]any courts have found no abuse of discretion in a trial court's refusal to permit defense counsel to call a codefendant to the stand solely to require them to assert the privilege in the presence of the jury. Finally, **it has been recognized that when a witness intends to claim the privilege as to essentially all questions, the court may, in its discretion, refuse to allow him to take the stand.**

*Id.* at 152, 493 S.E.2d at 824 (collecting cases) (emphasis added).

The circuit court did not abuse its discretion in refusing to allow Campbell to take the stand in this instance. The court sat as the factfinder at the pre-trial immunity hearing and was not permitted to draw any negative inference from Campbell's invocation of the privilege against self-

incrimination. *State v. Cervantes-Pavon*, 426 S.C. 442, 451, 827 S.E.2d 564, 569 (2019). Moreover, as the circuit court accurately noted, Campbell faced a joint trial with Appellant. Any testimony delivered by Campbell at the immunity hearing would create a prior testimonial statement which could then be used against his interest at his later jury trial, and which could affect his later decision to testify. *See generally*, Rule 613, SCRE.

In any event, any error in the circuit court's refusal to require Campbell to personally invoke the Fifth Amendment was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt because it "would have been cumulative to other testimony admitted" at the immunity hearing. *State v. Hughes*, 328 S.C. at 153, 493 S.E.2d at 824, *citing*, *State v. Gaskins*, 284 S.C. 105, 326 S.E.2d 132 (1985). The crux of Campbell's statement was that the victim, Burgess, began talking to Appellant as soon as Appellant arrived at the party. At some point, their discussion escalated and someone tried to intervene. Campbell stated Burgess shot first, and Appellant fired back in self-defense, only after picking up the intervener's gun which had fallen to the ground. (R. p. 2). Assuming *arguendo*, as Appellant has done, that Campbell's testimony aligned with the statement Appellant provided, this testimony was cumulative to that delivered by both Appellant and, Appellant's cousin Everett Ford. Campbell's testimony would have continued to contradict that of the State's eyewitnesses who did not see a gun on Burgess. Thus, Campbell's testimony could not have affected the outcome of the immunity hearing. Either he would have invoked the Fifth Amendment, or his proposed testimony would continue to facilitate a jury question.

**II. The court did not err in refusing to permit Appellant to call his private investigator to introduce co-defendant Aliga Campbell's written statement because, although Campbell was rendered an unavailable witness, the written statement was not against his penal interest.**

Relevant Facts

After consenting to Campbell's invocation of the Fifth Amendment, Appellant's counsel informed the court that he intended to call his private investigator to the stand for the purpose of introducing a sworn statement Campbell provided to the private investigator two weeks after the shooting. (R. p. 137, lines 4-25). Counsel argued that the statement was admissible through his private investigator as an exception to the rule against hearsay because Campbell, the declarant, became unavailable after invoking the Fifth Amendment, and because Campbell's statement was a statement against interest. (R. p. 137, lines 22-25; p. 139, line 11 – p. 141, line 12). The circuit court disagreed that Appellant's cited exceptions to the rule against hearsay. Though Campbell was unavailable because he asserted his Fifth Amendment privilege, the statement Campbell made was not against his own interest as required by Rule 804(b)(3), SCRE.

Standard of Review

A witness is unavailable where the declarant witness is exempted by ruling of the court on the ground of privilege from testifying. Rule 804(a), SCRE. The statement introduced must be incriminating to the declarant. *State v. McDonald*, 343 S.C. 319, 324-25, 540 S.E.2d 464, 466-67 (2000) (admissions of out-of-court declarant, McPhail, who invoked the Fifth Amendment, were admissible statements against interest because they were sufficiently corroborated by three other witnesses, Jackson, Mungo and Hawkins, who each on separate occasions heard McPhail admit to the offense); *State v. Forney*, 321 S.C. 353, 358-59, 468 S.E.2d 641, 644-45 (1996) (co-defendant's self-incriminating statements inadmissible absent sufficient corroboration); *State v. Doctor*, 306 S.C. 527, 530, 413 S.E.2d 36, 38 (1992) (self-incriminating statements made by minors who

invoked Fifth Amendment privilege admissible as statements against interest); A non-testifying co-defendant's confession that inculpates another defendant is inadmissible at their joint trial, even if the jury is instructed that the confession can only be used as evidence against the confessor, because of the substantial risk that the jury would look to the incriminating extrajudicial statements in determining the other's guilt. *Bruton v. United States*, 391 U.S. 123, 126-137, 88 S.Ct. 1620, 1622-28 (1968).

### Discussion

The trial court did not err in declining to allow the private investigator to testify for the purpose of bringing in the sworn statement Campbell made. Given co-defendant Campbell's unavailability as a witness, Campbell's statement would have to be "at the time of its making so far contrary to [his] pecuniary or proprietary interest, or so far tended to subject the declarant to civil or criminal liability . . . that a reasonable person in the declarant's position would not have made the statement unless believing it to be true." Rule 804(b)(3), SCRE.

Campbell's statement, however, was not adverse to his own interests. (R. p. 3). The statement describes that Burgess, one of the victims, told Campbell to call Appellant "and tell him to come the party." (R. p. 3). Campbell "tried to call [Appellant] but he didn't answer," and then Appellant walked up to the party a few minutes later. (R. p. 22). Then, Campbell told Appellant that Burgess wanted to talk to him. (R. p. 22). Campbell then described what he witnessed between Appellant, Burgess, and the second victim Alston. (R. p. 23). The statement can be construed as including incriminating information about Burgess, who Campbell described as "angry talking about [Appellant]" and as one of the shooters. (R. p. 23). The statement can also be construed as including incriminating information about Appellant, who Campbell described as the other shooter. (R. p. 22). But the statement cannot fairly be construed as "so far tend[ing] to subject the

declarant to civil or criminal liability . . . that a reasonable person in the declarant’s position would not have made the statement unless believing it to be true.” Rule 804(b)(3), SCRE. The statement described Campbell as merely present at the scene. *See State v. Leonard*, 292 S.C. 133, 137, 355 S.E.2d 270, 272 (1987) (“Mere presence at the scene is not sufficient to establish guilt as an aider or abettor

Because Campbell’s statement was not sufficiently adverse to his penal interest, the statement was not admissible via the hearsay exception for statements against interest made by an unavailable witness. Further, because the statement did not “tend[ ] to expose the declarant to criminal liability,” the circuit court did not need to consider whether “corroborating circumstances clearly indicate the trustworthiness of the statement.” Rule 804(b)(3).

**III. The circuit court did not err in denying immunity from prosecution where the evidence revealed that the Appellant was not claiming self-defense in the killing of Damian Alston; therefore, not being allowed immunity, and by failing to prove by a preponderance of the evidence that the killing of Jamal Burgess was in self-defense; thereby denying immunity.**

#### Relevant Facts

On March 5, 2019, the court conducted an immunity hearing in response to Appellant’s motion for immunity from prosecution pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 16–11–450. After a full hearing with arguments by counsel, the court found Appellant had not demonstrated by a preponderance of the evidence that he was entitled to immunity under the Act, and that the case would proceed to a jury trial where the State would have to disprove the elements of self-defense beyond a reasonable doubt. (R. p. 222, lines 7-20). The court issued a Form 4 Order the following day memorializing its decision. (R. p. 224) This Court later decided that the trial judge failed to follow South Carolina law as it pertains to decisions regarding the Protection of Persons and Property Act. This Court decided to remand the case back to the circuit court in order for the court

to create a new order with specific findings of fact in support of whether the Appellant was or was not entitled to immunity. *Ford*, 439 S.C. at 272, 886 S.E.2d at 716.

On October 24, 2024, the Honorable Benjamin H. Culbertson issued a second order denying immunity. Within this order the trial court followed the decision of this Court in *Ford* by making specific findings of facts. Within this order the trial court determined:

“In the case at hand, the defendant alleges that he is entitled to immunity from prosecution under the Act because he acted in self-defense. However, the defendant asserts that he did not shoot or kill one of the victims, Damian Alston. He asserts that someone else did. Therefore, his defense to that alleged murder is not self-defense but, rather, that someone else committed the crime. The Act does not provide immunity from prosecution when a defendant claims that he did not commit the crime. Whether or not the defendant shot and killed Damian Alston (not whether or not the defendant acted in self-defense) is a question of fact to be determined by a jury at trial. Therefore, as a matter of law, the defendant is not entitled to immunity from prosecution under the Act for the alleged murder of Damian Alston.”

“As to the alleged murder of Jamal Burgess, possession of a weapon by a felon and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime, the State presented evidence that the defendant was at fault in bringing on the difficulty. The State’s evidence is in direct contrast to the evidence presented by the defendant and is equally compelling as the evidence presented by the defendant. Therefore, the defendant failed to prove that it is more likely true than not true that he was not at fault in bringing on the difficulty, thus failing to prove that element of self-defense by a preponderance of the evidence.”

(R. pp. 230-231).

#### Standard of Review

The circuit court “must sit as the fact-finder at [the immunity] hearing, weigh the evidence presented, and reach a conclusion under the Act. *Cervantes-Pavon*, 426 S.C. at 451, 827 S.E.2d at 569. The circuit court must necessarily consider the elements of self-defense” and “in announcing its ruling, should at least make specific findings on the elements on the record.” *State v. Glenn*, 429 S.C. 108, 123, 838 S.E.2d 491, 499 (2019)

## Discussion

During the immunity hearing, the State presented testimony from Elizabeth Holoman, who lived at the house where the party was taking place. She testified that she came home to find partygoers in her yard, and Burgess helped her carry some packages from her car to her home. (R. p. 153, line 12 – p. 154, line 12). She did not see a gun on Burgess. (R. p. 154, lines 18-19). She was inside when the shots rang out. (R. p. 155, lines 5-12).

Next, the State presented eyewitnesses Felicia Williams and Sherika Gore. Felicia testified that while she was at the party conversing with others:

I heard a glass drop and it caught my attention. So, you know, I stood back from the car to see what was going on. I seen [Appellant] pull out a gun and him and [Burgess] --- well, actually I seen --- let me go back, I'm sorry. . . . when I pulled on the road, [Appellant] and [Burgess] were already talking to each other. And [Alston] was in the middle of them. And I seen [Burgess'] hand go like this [sweeping motion], because after the glass bottle dropped, I seen [Burgess'] hand go like this to move [Alston]. That's when I seen [Appellant] pull out the gun and once the first shot went off I took off running into [the] house.

(R. p. 159, lines 6-17).

Felicia did not know if it was an argument or not, she “could hear the conversation, but it wasn't any loud talking or aggression or anything like that to say it was an argument.” (R. p. 174, lines 17-24). Felicia testified that she remembered Appellant saying he would fight. (R. p. 171, lines 6-13). Felicia clarified that she saw Burgess' hands in the air moving Alston away from the discussion, then saw the Appellant pull out a gun up from “off of his body.” (R. p. 159, line 18; p. 162, line 1-3). Felicia did not see Appellant bend down to pick up a gun, nor did she see a gun on Alston or Burgess. (R. p. 162, lines 6-12; p. 173, lines 10-14). Felicia did not see any guns on the ground near the victims after the shooting. (R. p. 165, line 1–7).

Furthermore, Felicia testified that Everett Ford was not at the party that night. (R. p. 163, lines 1-9). Everett Ford had, however, contacted her the Friday prior to the immunity hearing to

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